ELECTRONICALLY FILED

2017 May 17 PM 4:56 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 117103

No. 17-117103-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

HM of Topeka, LLC,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v.

Indian Country Mini Mart and Carla D. Nissen,

Defendant/Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Jackson County, Kansas The Honorable Gary Nafziger, Judge District Court Case No. 2006-CV-41

J. Phillip Gragson, #16103
HENSON, HUTTON,
MUDRICK & GRAGSON, LLP
100 S.E. 9th Street, 2nd Floor
Topeka, KS 66612
(785) 232-2200; (785) 232-3344 (fax)
jpgragson@hhmglaw.com
Attorney for Indian Country Mini Mart and
Carla D. Nissen

Oral Argument: 15 minutes

NATURE OF THE CASE

Over the period of several years beginning in 2004-2006 the sole owner of HM of Topeka, LLC a/k/a HM of Kansas, LLC, Terry Hummer, had multiple discussions with Roger Aldis about purchasing Indian Country Mini Mart ("ICMM"). The parties drafted a purchase agreement which both parties signed but the parties never closed on the sale of the business. At the pretrial stage and without allowing the parties to present all the factual evidence in support of their arguments, the trial court found that there was a meeting of the minds and that the parties had entered into a valid agreement. The trial court refused to consider whether Plaintiff was ready, willing, and able to perform under the agreement at the time of the alleged closing in 2006. The trial court further found that there was no ambiguity within the terms. ICMM and Carla D. Nissen now appeal the trial court's decision in ordering the parties to specifically perform the agreement.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the District Court erred by entering summary judgment at the pretrial conference without the filing of a motion for summary judgment and providing notice to the parties that the court intended to rule on the merits; and by disallowing a jury trial on those issues.
- II. Whether the District Court erred when it summarily granted judgment on the issue of contract formation.
- III. If the Court of Appeals finds that the contract was a valid and complete contract, whether the District Court erred in finding that the purported agreement was not ambiguous.
- IV. Whether the District Court erred by considering parol evidence in determining whether the contract was ambiguous or not, which should have been an issue for the jury.
- V. Whether the District Court erred by ignoring whether the agreement violated the statute of frauds, and not finding that it did.
- VI. The Court erred by ordering specific performance on a real estate contract when facts and circumstances related to the marketability of title and ability to sell the

property have changed subsequent to the making of the purported contract, and by changing an essential term of the contract.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In *HM of Topeka, LLC v. Indian Country Mini Mart*, 44 Kan. App. 2d 297, 236 P.3d 535 (2010), the Kansas Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the district court's decision dismissing the case for lack of standing. The July 30, 2010, appellate decision is not part of the record on appeal, but it is a published decision that this court may take judicial notice of its previous findings of fact and conclusions of law, some of which are copied below for reference.

- 1. On July 30, 2010, the Court of Appeals did not rule on whether or not there was a contract because that was not the issue before the Court. Rather, the court determined that HM of Topeka LLC had standing to sue Appellants, and then reversed and remanded the District Court's decision dismissing the case on that ground. *See HM of Topeka*, *LLC v. Indian Country Mini Mart*, 44 Kan. App. 2d 297, 236 P.3d 535 (2010).
- 2. In making this determination, the Court made the following findings of fact that were in the record at that time at 44 Kan. App. 2d at 297-99:

Terry Hummer is the sole member of HM of Topeka, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company. Indian Country Mini Mart (Indian Country) is a convenience store organized as a Kansas general partnership and owned in equal shares by Roger Aldis and Carla Nissen.

Hummer had known Aldis for some time and first approached Aldis about purchasing Indian Country in July 2004. Hummer was unable to purchase Indian Country himself at the time, so he attempted to put together a transaction by which an unrelated entity, J & J Development, would purchase Indian Country and then lease the premises to Hummer Markets, another entity owned by Hummer. Although J & J Development signed a purchase agreement, the deal fell through prior to closing.

In March 2006, Hummer again approached Aldis about purchasing Indian Country. Aldis provided Hummer with a purchase agreement document, which still listed J & J Development as the purchaser. On the first page of the agreement, Hummer

whited out "J & J Development" and handwrote "HM OF KANSAS LLC" (as opposed to HM of Topeka) in the space designated for the purchaser. On the final page of the purchasing agreement, Hummer removed J & J Development's signature block and representative's signature and handwrote "HM of KANSAS, LLC" (as opposed to HM of Topeka) under his signature. The purchase agreement was executed on March 20, 2006, by Nissen, in both her individual capacity and on behalf of Indian County, and by Hummer on behalf of HM of Kansas.

Hummer later realized his apparent mistake in writing "HM of Kansas" (which is not a legal entity) rather than "HM of Topeka" on the purchase agreement. Accordingly, Hummer's attorney prepared an amended purchase agreement that corrected the error. Although other closing documents prepared by Hummer and Hummer's counsel correctly identified the purchaser as HM of Topeka rather than HM of Kansas, there is no evidence that Aldis or Nissen saw these other documents.

The purchase agreement provided that closing would take place within 45 days. That date, May 4, came and went. Believing that the purchaser was having trouble obtaining financing, Aldis testified that he considered the purchase agreement to have terminated on May 15, 2006. Hummer stated that the delay was due to title insurance issues and insisted that the deal should still close. A title insurance commitment was issued on May 22, 2006. HM of Topeka was listed as the proposed insured on a title insurance commitment issued for Indian Country.

The transaction never closed. On June 15, 2006, HM of Topeka filed suit against Indian Country seeking specific performance on the purchase agreement and damages for breach of contract.

3. This court further noted "...that, notwithstanding knowledge of this typographical mistake, both Hummer and Indian Country continued to actively work towards closing the deal in April, May, and June 2006." *Id.*

Additional details about the parties

- 4. Roger Aldis and Defendant Carla Nissen were 50/50 partners in owning Indian Country Mini Mart ("ICMM"), a convenience store and gas station, located at 20330 US-75 Highway, Holton, Kansas. (R. II, 121, 185).
 - 5. Aldis was a silent partner and Nissen operates the daily business. (R. II, 152, 166).
- 6. Nissen is the sole owner of the land upon which ICMM sits and she owns the surrounding land which also contains her residence. (R. II, 165).

- 7. Roger Aldis did not own the real property associated with the ICMM deal. (R. II, 151-52).
- 8. The residence and the mini mart have separate propane tanks, but both tanks are located on the residential property. (R. II, 167).

Negotiations and Unresolved Material Terms

- 9. In 2004, when the original contract between J&J Development and ICMM was drawn, Nissen believed that the contract involved other documents concerning the operations issues of ICMM. (R. II, 169).
- 10. Nissen operated ICMM and was not involved in negotiating the real estate or the contract between J&J Development and ICMM. (R. II, 170).
- 11. At the time Nissen signed the agreement with J&J Development, she did not understand whether she could add terms to the agreement and she did not have an attorney review the contract. (R. II, 171). Nissen did not have legal counsel review it because she thought it was part of a package of agreements which would then lead to counsel reviewing. (R. II, 171).
- 12. Aldis understood the purpose of the agreement that he presented to Carla Nissen to sign and that Hummer signed was simple—to present it to the bank to see if the ICMM could be added to the loan package. The agreement "didn't necessarily reflect all of our conversations with Tex Mex Express [a potential leaser that Hummer was trying to engage in a multi-party deal]." (R. II, 154-55).
- 13. What was originally conceived was that "Carter Petroleum had interest in placing up to 30 Tex Mex Express stores. . . and that we would need Carla to train managers." (R. II, 159).
- 14. Roger Aldis gave the agreement to Carla Nissen to sign and told her that he and the Purchaser were not sure if the bank would approve financing the purchase of the store. Aldis and

Hummer were aware of the lagoon issue but Aldis thought "why spend money at this point in time until we find out if Valley View [financing bank] would even approve of the addition of this to his existing loan package." (R. II, 154-55).

15. Nissen thought the original agreement was "an avenue to get the ball rolling" with Carter Petroleum. (R. II, 173).

16. Aldis testified:

Q: So was there any kind of plan to modify the contract once Mr. Hummer had then gotten the package put together and the Indian Country Mini Mart added?

A: Mr. Hummer actually asked if we should go ahead and put together a lease on the Tex Mex Express space, and we agreed there's no reason to create a lease or any other expense until we find out if the Mini Mart could ever be added to the loan package.

(R. II, 156).

17. Aldis testified:

Q: My question was why did you not have that particular condition that the Tex Mex stores be opened be a part of the agreement to sell the Indian Country Mini Mart?

A: I think the ...general consensus was we don't even know if the bank is going to let him add the Mini Mart or let the purchase, HM of Kansas, add the Mini Mart to their existing loan package. If they aren't going to allow them to do that, Carla would still be managing the Mini Mart.

Q: And my question to you was if that was an important condition and the reason that the Indian Country Mini Mart was going to be sold, why was that not incorporated into any documentation?

A: I will answer it the best I can is that we thought that this was step number one. If we don't accomplish step number one there is not really a step number two, because without Carla we have no one to train managers in our – in our circle of people we know.

(R. II, 160).

18. The purported agreement, dated March 20, which is entitled "Agreement for Purchase of Real Estate and Personal Property" contains the following paragraphs:

[Paragraph] 8. Unless additional time is required to provide marketable title, this contract shall be closed on or before forty-five (45) days from the date hereof, with possession to be delivered to purchaser upon closing.

[Paragraph] 9. Time is of the essence in this contract.

[Paragraph] 11. This contract is expressly conditioned upon the **PURCHASER** being able to secure suitable financing for the purchase price as set forth above, and if such financing cannot be suitably arranged by **PURCHASER**, this Contract shall be null and void and Seller and Purchaser shall be released from all liability, and any monies paid hereunder shall be returned to the Purchaser.

(R. II, 189, 206-07).

- 19. Forty-five (45) days from the date the parties signed the contract on March 20, 2006 was May 4, 2006. (R. II, 126).
- 20. Hummer thinks closing would depend on when marketable title was delivered. He does not read the closing date to mean that the deal would close 45 days after it was executed or on May 4, 2006. (R. II, 189).
- 21. However, Aldis interpreted the same closing paragraph to mean that closing was to be 45 days after the agreement was signed. (R. II, 155).
- 22. When Hummer signed the agreement, he thought he was acquiring all the property from the southern edge of the concrete to include the storage tanks, and then head north and angle back to the concrete somewhere at a line between the house and the diesel pumps. (R. II, 188).
- 23. During his deposition, on a picture of the mini mart, Hummer drew the area that he thought he was purchasing. (R. II, 188, 198). In commenting on his markings on the picture,

Hummer indicated that it mattered a lot that he was purchasing a driveway to access the property. (R. II, 188-89).

24. Hummer testified:

Q: Okay. Now was it important in your decision to execute Exhibit 5 [the purported agreement] that this portion of the driveway, where all of the driveway be part of the land that was being conveyed to you?

A: To have sufficient ingress egress, yes.

Q: It was a material term, wasn't it?

A: I don't understand the question.

Q: It mattered a lot that you had a driveway to get in?

A: Yes.

Id.

- 25. Hummer was aware that there is a lagoon adjacent to the mini mart that services the mini mart as well as the residential house. (R. II, 189).
- 26. The agreement states that the purchaser shall have full access and right to the lagoons located on the property for as long as purchaser owns the property in question. (R. II, 189). However, the lagoon was not located on the property. (R. II, 189).
- 27. Hummer contemplated that he would need an additional document such as an easement in order to facilitate closing the agreement and to obtain access to the lagoon; in fact, one of his attorney's mentioned it. (R. II, 189).
- 28. When Hummer executed the agreement, he did not know whether the water meter serving the property was actually located on what was purportedly going to be conveyed to him. (R. II, 189).
- 29. Hummer now understands that the water meters are not located on the property described in the agreement. (R. II, 196).

30. Hummer agrees that if the mini mart did not have its own water meter and could not get water, Hummer would not have gone through with the transaction, stating: "it has to have water, yes." (R. II, 189).

31. Hummer further states that if what he was purchasing in terms of property did not include the driveway, he would not have gone through with the transaction; even though he thought he was purchasing the driveway. Hummer specifically answers: "If there was no entrance, no, I would not have [wanted to purchase the property]." (R. II, 196).

32. Concerning entry to the property, Hummer testified at his deposition:

Q: Okay, that's a very critical important issue, is it not?

A: Having entrance?

Mr. Lanterman: Object to form.

Q: Yes.

A: Yeah.

(R. II, 196).

33. Hummer also did not know whether the propane tank that serves the property was located in the property he planned to purchase. (R. II, 189).

34. On or about May 9, 2006, Hummer was trying to figure what parts of the property were included or not included in the legal description Roger Aldis provided to him and that is provided in the purported agreement (referred to as Exhibit 5 in the deposition). (R. II, 190).

35. On May 9, 2006, Terry Hummer's attorney, Brian Jacques, wrote to Kyle J. Mead, an examining attorney at Lawyer's Title of Topeka, Inc., to notify Mead that Hummer was sending a contract concerning the alleged purchase of 20330 US Highway 75, Holton, KS with an attached legal description. Mr. Jacques wrote, "I would note that there is also a second legal description attached which Terry has blocked off an area that he would like to additionally acquire and it

appears that the Seller is agreeable to this. A legal description will need to be obtained for this." (R. II, 191).

- 36. Hummer gave the last sheet on Exhibit 13, showing the legal description and a picture of the property in which Hummer drew the dashed line showing what he wanted to purchase to his attorney because "it was part of the contract." Emphasis added. (R. II, 191).
- 37. On the second legal description attached and referenced by Jacques in his letter to Mead, Hummer indicated the area that he wanted to purchase includes storage tanks adjacent to the gas station. *Id.* at pp. 71-72. (R. II, 191).
- 38. In turn on May 10, Mead wrote to Judy Thomas of Jackson County Title and Abstract Co. Mead indicated that he was "advised that the buyer, HM of Kansas, LLC, wants to square off the tract and intends to buy all of the Seller's property to the eastern boundary with her neighbor on the east, as 'shown' on the survey markup Buyer has provided, in which I include. We're trying to convince buyer that a surveyor or engineer needs to draw up a final legal for the additional property. Intervening matters may have altered what seller owns from the legal that is shown on the survey. If that is the case, just let me know. Contract closing is set for August." (R. II, 211).
- 39. In or about May 30, 2006, the water line problem was disclosed to Hummer. Hummer describes it as: "there was a water meter that Indian Country Mini Mart paid the bill for but it also fed the house, and my understanding was that it crossed back and forth, that it started on land that would not be conveyed to us on the original contract, went through land that would be conveyed to us and then went to the house. And so they [Hummer's attorney and Aldis] were trying to determine a solution to how to provide water to the house." (R. II, 192).
- 40. On May 30, 2006, Brian Jacques wrote to Roger Aldis enclosing an easement agreement "concerning the lagoon located outside of the property agreed to be purchased by Mr.

Hummer," a deed conveying the real property to HM of Topeka, LLC (instead of HM of Kansas), and a bill of sale. In addition, a seller's affidavit was enclosed and Mr. Jacques informed Mr. Aldis that the title company will need this for closing. (R. II, 195, 212-45). None of these agreements were subsequently signed. (R. II, 192).

- 41. More than forty-five (45) days after the execution of the agreement, in or about May 30, 2006, Hummer states that Aldis called Hummer and told him that "they" decided not to close. (R. II, 156, 193).
- 42. Aldis states that during that same conversation, Hummer said "if you don't close tomorrow, I'll just have to sue you." (R. II, 156).
- 43. Following Defendants' revocation of the negotiations, Hummer directed his attorneys to prepare an Amendment to the agreement which states "HM of Kansas, LLC was improperly titled in the original agreement for purchase of real estate and personal property." (R. II, 194).
 - 44. Hummer testified at his deposition as follows:
 - Q: You understand there were many additional terms that needed to be worked out in order to effectuate the closing?

A: I mean I have no idea. We'd have to ask Brian how many and what it was.

Q: But again, had you believed you had a fully valid contract with all of the essential terms, why were you authorizing your attorney to continue to prepare documents?

Mr. Lanterman: Object to form.

A: Because you guys said no, so in this point we're trying to say well, what's wrong, what's it going to take. Let's get it done.

Q: Well, wasn't it your attorney that wanted the change of name from HM of Kansas, LLC to HM of Topeka, LLC?

Mr. Lanterman: Object to form.

A: Yeah, to my knowledge we needed to put HM of Topeka.

(R. II, 195).

- 45. Under threat of being sued, on June 1, 2006, Daniel Crow wrote to Mr. Hummer's attorneys and informed him that he had been retained by the sellers, ICMM and Nissen on the above-referenced property. (R. II, 157, 246-47).
- 46. Mr. Crow informed Mr. Hummer's counsel that he believed that the Agreement had expired by its own terms and specifically referenced paragraph 8 which required the transaction to close within forty-five (45) days of the date of agreement or no later than May 4, 2006. *Id.*
- 47. Mr. Crow also identified a number of issues outstanding between the parties including ancillary documents that had been provided but had not been signed and unresolved issues regarding certain details of the transaction including, but not limited to, "accuracy of legal descriptions for the property conveyed as well as the property retained; wastewater lagoon system permit and/or approval; specific easement language for the shared usage of the lagoon and/or egress and the egress rights; specific terms of the lease and/or inventory calculations; potential lender funding issues; and, unknown circumstances surrounding the location of the shared water meter and/or any easement language required for use and maintenance of the water lines." *Id.*
- 48. Under threat of being sued, Mr. Crow, indicated that his clients were still willing to proceed in trying to resolve some of the issues. *Id*.
- 49. When Nissen's lawyer, Crow, sent the letter pointing out missing information from the original agreement (exhibit 5), and indicated ICMM was still willing to close, Nissen felt like she was forced into cooperating and closing because Hummer had threatened to sue her. (R. II, 176-77).

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