ELECTRONICALLY FILED

2017 Jun 15 PM 3:35 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 117103 No. 17-117103-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

HM OF TOPEKA, LLC Plaintiff/Appellee

VS.

INDIAN COUNTRY MINI MART AND CARLA D. NISSEN Defendant/Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appealed from the District Court of Jackson County, Kansas Honorable Gary Natziger, District Judge District Court Case No. 2006-CV-41

> Stephen P. Weir, #11624 STEPHEN P. WEIR, P.A. 2900 SW Wanamaker Dr., Ste. 202 Topeka, KS 66614 PH: (785) 235-3030

Email: sweir@stephenpweirpa.com

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

District Courts exercise considerable latitude in managing cases and dockets, so

this procedure to determine the legal issue of the contract interpretation and legal effect, which are matters of law, is a discretionary call that is reviewed for abuse of discretion. See Holt v. State, 290 Kan. 491, 497-98, 232 P.3d 848 (2010) (recognizing inherent authority to control docket); Harsch v. Miller, 288 Kan. 280, 288, 200 P.3d 467 (2009) (recognizing authority to manage case). A district court abuses its discretion by ruling in a way no reasonable judicial officer would under the circumstances. Here, the District Court utilized the most common sense and logical method to apply the Standards of Review to the contract before it.

The Defendants argue summary judgment cases which do not support their position; where discovery was not completed; where there was no written contract or where there were communications not resulting in a formal contract. See for example Page 27 of Defendant's Appellate Brief, citing Integrated Living Communities, Inc. v. Homestead Co., L.C., 106 F.Supp.2d 1141, 1143 (D.Kan. 2000) and Hoxeng v. Topeka Broadcomm, Inc., 911 F.Supp. 1323 (D.Kan. 1996) and Page 33 of Defendant's Brief cites Dougan v. Rossville Drainage Dist., 270 Kan. 468, 15 P.3d 338 (2000), where the "court specifically noted that agreements pertaining to an interest in land must be in writing..."

In Integrated Living, 106 F.Supp. At 1143, cited by the Defendants, the Court was faced with a written contract where the party was arguing that a provision in the contract should be "interpreted" to waive interest on past due amounts. The Court granted summary judgment enforcing the contract and stating at 106 F.Supp.2d at 1143:

"Under Kansas law, the issue of whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law to be determined by the court. <u>Clark v. Prudential Ins. Co. Of America</u>, 204 Kan. 487, 464 P.2d 253, 256 (1970). If the contract is not ambiguous, the contract must be enforced as written.

id. Courts should not attempt to create ambiguity in a contract where, in

common sense, there is none. Pink Cadillac Bar and Grill, Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co., 22 Kan. App. 2d 944, 925 P.2d 452, 456 (1996).

[4] The Court finds that the contract between the parties is not ambiguous.

(1144) The court is unwilling to accept the defendant's position and read ambiguity into the contract where it is clear no genuine controversy exists. The statement that the payments were to be made without interest was clearly used solely to indicate that there was no interest to be charged on the loan itself. This is much different than stating that the plaintiff would not charge the defendant interest on the debts that accrued when installments went unpaid.

In the other case cited by the Defendants, <u>Hoxeng v. Topeka Broadcomm, Inc.</u>, 911 F.Supp. 1323 (D. Kan. 1996), the Court was faced with a letter of intent, two other letters and an expressed intent to proceed "with the potential sale", prior to drafting and execution of a formal writing. The Court determined that under such circumstances the issue of whether the parties entered a contract was a fact issue. (911 F.Supp. At 1327).

That case is clearly distinguishable from this case where there was the "drafting and execution of a formal writing". In <u>Hoxeng</u> the court stated at Syl. Par. 5 and at 1331:

But where the intent of the parties is clear that they are negotiating with an understanding that the terms of the contract are not fully agreed upon and a written formal agreement is contemplated a binding contract does not come into existence in the absence of execution of the formal document. (Weil & Associates v. Urban Renewal Agency, 206 Kan. 405, 479 P.2d 875). King v. Wenger, 219 Kan. 668, 671-72, 549 P.2d 986 (1976).

The District Court here clearly followed the standards of review requiring that it determine whether the "executed formal document" was ambiguous as a matter of law.

The Defendants try to get around these standards by arguing that a contract was not "formed".

C. Defendant's Issues II, III and IV - Contract Formation and Alleged Ambiguities.

Completely ignoring the written formal contract, the Defendants argue that there were ambiguities which caused questions of fact as to whether the parties "formed a

contract".

The "existence and terms" of the contract signed by these parties are undisputed. The signed contract exists and one must again question whether the Defendants are acting in good faith to "not intentionally and purposely do anything to prevent the other party from carrying out his or her part of the agreement". (See Appendix 1 hereto).

1. Standards of Review - Contract Formation

Once the "existence and terms" of a contract are established, their interpretation raises a question for the court's determination. M. West Inc. v. Oak Park Mall, LLC, 44 Kan.App. 2d 35, 46, 234 P.3d 833 (2010).

The Defendants also cite the M. West case but then ignore the existence of the contract.

The Defendant's "arguments" that the court should have looked at negotiations and parol statements are the very reason for the establishment of our precedent and the statute of frauds, which prohibit the use of such incompetent evidence and arguments. Our contract law is based upon the standards of review above and not the Defendant's arguments.

As long ago as 1922, in <u>Price v. Shay</u>, 110 Kan. 351, 203 P. 1105 (1922), the Supreme Court ordered judgment for the Plaintiffs on a written contract when the Defendant argued "the instrument differed from his understanding of what the agreement was". (110 Kan. At 355).

The <u>Price</u> court cited our general rules and refused to allow Defendant to escape from his written contract stating at 110 Kan. 353, 354:

"To permit a party, when sued on a written contract, to admit that he signed it but to deny that it expresses the agreement he made, or to allow him to admit that he signed it but did not read it or know its stipulations, would absolutely destroy the value of all contracts. The purpose of the rule is to

give stability to written agreements, and to remove the temptation and possibility of perjury, which would be afforded if parol evidence was admissible...If a person cannot read the instrument, it is as much his duty to procure some reliable person to read and explain it to him before he signs it, as it would be to read it before he signed it if he were able to do so, and his failure to obtain a reading and explanation of it is such gross negligence as will estop him from avoiding it on the ground that he was ignorant of its contents." (6 R.C.L. 624, 625; followed and approved in <u>Burns v. Spiker</u>, 109 Kan. 22, 202 P. 370).

While, as we have seen, one of the purposes of the rule making incompetent parol evidence to contradict a written instrument is to remove the temptation and possibility of perjury which would be afforded if parol evidence was admissible...

In <u>Deming v. Wallace</u>, 73 Kan. 291, 85 P. 139, it was held that the rule that oral representations or inducements preceding or contemporaneous with the agreement are merged in the writing, is subject to the exception that if the representations amount to fraud which avoids the written contract they are not merged therein, and parol evidence is admissible to show the fraud.

In Kansas, we adhere to the general principle that competent parties may make contracts on their own terms, provided they are neither illegal nor contrary to public policy, and that in the absence of fraud, mistake, or duress a party who has fairly and voluntarily entered into such a contract is bound. This rule applies regardless of a failure to read the contract or inclusion of terms disadvantageous to one party. Wille v. Southwestern Bell Tel. Co., 219 Kan. 755, 757, 549 P.2d 903 (1976); Washington v. Claassen, 218 Kan. 577, 580, 545 P.2d 387 (1976).

As the cases above instruct, when a contract is reduced to writing, it constitutes the agreement of the parties as to its subject matter and prior or contemporaneous oral agreements or statements varying or nullifying its terms are not admissible.

The Defendants try to get around the fact that they entered into a formal written agreement by arguing that they can come up with other terms that could be added to the contract, so they want the Contract nullified.

Such an argument would destroy the enforceability of every written contract, since

there are always more terms that could be added to every contract.

The question is not whether more terms "could" be added. The cases above clearly state that the question is whether the terms actually used are sufficient to form a binding contract on the subject therein.

The Defendants even cite to this authority at their Brief Page 31:

It is generally recognized in Kansas "for an agreement to be binding it must be sufficiently definite as to its terms and requirements as to enable the court to determine what acts are to be performed and when performance is complete". Adams Parker Furniture, Inc. v. Ethan Allen, Inc., 1988 WL 235667, (D.Kan. Aug., 16, 1988)(quoting Hayes v. Underwood, 196 Kan. 265, 267-68, 411 P.2d 717, 721 (1966))...

The terms of a contract are reasonably certain if they provide a basis for determining the existence of a breach and for giving an appropriate remedy.

Here, the Contract Par. I includes not only the land (with the survey attached) but also:

And all personal property presently located thereon, including: All gasoline pumping equipment, convenience store shelving, fixtures and equipment, signs, telephone numbers, and any supplies or inventory presently located on the described premises along with all building currently located on the grounds. The Tex-Mex equipment and fixtures are not part of the contract and will not be included in the sale.

The Contract then provides for an inventory of the contents.

Further, Contract Par. 10 is the Defendant's warranty of the "property storage tanks, equipment and all fixtures" ... with leak detection equipment included.

These terms are more than sufficient to enable the District Court to determine if the land and personal property was to be sold.

In <u>Brown v. Oliver</u>, 123 Kan. 711, 256 P. 1008 (1927), the court allowed parole evidence to prove that a contract of sale for a hotel building included the furniture in the building, even though the furniture was not specified in the written contract. The court

found that the written instrument was not intended to constitute exclusive evidence of an entire transaction of sale, but was intended to relate to the real estate only, 123 Kan. at 713 stating:

"The writing was appropriate to evidence a sale of real estate to be consummated in the future, and was devoted to that subject. It was unambiguous, made no reference to any item of personal property, and contained nothing to indicate the parties were dealing with respect to any subject except land and matters incidental to the land described. The parties were not obliged to extend the writing beyond the single subject of land. They could leave personal property included in the transaction of sale to be transferred by bill of sale or by delivery on payment of price. (St. L.I.&W. Rly. Co. v. Maddox, 18 Kan. 546). Such an arrangement would not contradict any provision of the land contract because it purported to relate to land only... When the court, not the jury, had determined in this manner the preliminary questions of what the writing covered the court was in a position to rule on whether parol evidence of sale of the furniture should be received and go to the jury.

Thus the Supreme Court clearly approved of the District Court enforcing the real estate contract and then any peripheral issues, if any remain and were still undecided, would go to a jury.

It should be noted here that the Defendants have not asserted that any of the discussions on their incidental issues (such as utilities and easements) should be determined to be an oral contract or supplements to the contract. Instead, they are using those later conversations as a sword to nullify the written contract and do not request enforcement of any of their incidental later conversations.

The <u>Brown</u> Court recognized the doctrine of "partial integration" permits parole evidence to prove the terms of the "entire" contract. However, the doctrine applies only when a portion of a transaction has been embodied in a single writing and the remainder has been left in some other form. <u>Brown</u>, 123 Kan. at 713. If a term or subject was not covered in the written document, then parole evidence may be offered <u>on the omitted</u> term so long as the evidence does not contradict the express terms of the writing and

merely supplements its contents. 123 Kan. At 713-14. See also, Robertson v. McCune, 205 Kan. 696, 699, 472 P.2d 215 (1970) (parole evidence may not be used to nullify a clear and positive provision of the writing). (Emphasis added).

Parole evidence which tends to vary or contradict the terms of a written contract must be stricken and such evidence should not be considered by a court in reaching its decision. Such evidence is considered to be incompetent and its admission is in violation of the parole evidence rule. <u>Gibbs v. Erbert</u>, 198 Kan. 403, 412, 424 P.2d 276 (1967).

2. Application of Standards to each of Defendant's Issues

The Defendants make general statements and jump back and forth from one argument to another and back again, but their arguments can be boiled down to the following:

a. The General Sales Language. The subject Contract contains, within its four corners, all of the necessary elements of a real estate sales contract (price, property, closing terms and signatures). The outward expression of assent in the written contract is sufficient to form an enforceable contract. (See Fact Statements above 3(A) through (N) for more details).

The written contract provides for the sale of the Mini Mart for One Million Four Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents (\$1,450,000.00), plus a procedure to determine the price of the inventory at the time of closing. [Paragraph 2(a),(b),(c) and (d)].

It is the Defendant's duty to come forward with alleged contract terms that have two or more meanings. The Defendants have not done so. The Contract has no material ambiguity in its terms. All <u>essential</u> terms and conditions were agreed upon.

"In determining intent to form a contract, the test is objective, rather than subjective, meaning that the relevant inquiry is the 'manifestation of a

party's intention, rather than the actual or real intention.' [Citation omitted.] Put another way, the 'inquiry will focus not on the question of whether the subjective minds of the parties have met, but on whether their outward expression of assent is sufficient to form a contract.' [Citation omitted.]" (Emphasis added) Southwest & Assocs., Inc. v. Steven Enterprises, 32 Kan.App.2d 778, 781,88 P.3d 1246.

The subject Contract contains all of the necessary elements (price, property, closing terms and signatures).

The Defendants have asserted that the contract was not really a contract but rather something like a starting point for negotiations. Such a position makes no sense given the plain language of the Defendant's own written agreement.

b. The Plaintiff's Name Issue. The Defendant argues that the Plaintiff's name is different than on the Contract face, but the issue of Plaintiff's name as used on the Contract has already been decided by the Court of Appeals.

This Court of Appeals has already established the "law of the case" as to the contract interpretation being a question of law and non-material issues can not defeat the intent of the parties, stating at syllabus paragraphs 5 and 6:

"5. Under the facts of this case, the mistake in identifying "HM of Topeka" as "HM of Kansas" in the purchase agreement is a misnomer that did not have any material effect on enforceability of the purchase agreement.
6. Under the facts of this case, Plaintiff is a legal entity with sufficient standing to sue Defendants for specific performance of the underlying purchase agreement and damages for breach of the underlying contract. (Emphasis added).

Essentially, the doctrine of the "law of the case" prevents parties from reopening issues in a case that have already been addressed and decided on appeal in that case.

Thoroughbred Assocs. v. Kansas City Royalty Co., 297 Kan. 1193, 1212, 308 P.3d 1238 (2013) ("The law of the case prevents re-litigation of the same issues within successive stages of the same suit."): State v. Collier, 263 Kan. 629, Syl., 3, 952 P.2d 1326 (1998): ("[O]nce an issue is decided by the [appellate] court, it should not be re-

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